THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM ANDERSON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Jean H. Toal, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2019-001600

RECEIVED

May 12 2020

SC Court of Appeals

Rita Joyce Glenn, individually and as personal
representative of the Estate of Thomas Harold Glenn,
deceased,

Respondent,

v.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Whether the trial court erred in failing to instruct the jury to correct its inconsistent negligence and strict liability verdicts.
- II. Whether the trial court erred in failing to exclude Plaintiffs' experts' unreliable "each and every exposure" opinions.
- III. Whether the trial court erred in failing to charge the jury on intervening cause, the sophisticated intermediary doctrine, and the unavailability of punitive damages for a breach of warranty claim.
- IV. Whether the trial court erred in denying Fisher's request to have the jury apportion fault to other potential tortfeasors and in denying Fisher's right to a complete setoff.
- V. Whether the trial court erred in granting sanctions against Fisher based on Fisher's proffer of expert testimony and related evidence previously excluded by the trial court.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Plaintiff Rita Joyce Glenn (“Plaintiff”) filed the operative complaint on July 21, 2016, against forty-one defendants, including Appellant Fisher Controls International LLC (“Fisher”). (R. 62–63). Plaintiff alleged that her deceased husband, Thomas Harold Glenn (“Mr. Glenn”), developed mesothelioma from exposure to asbestos while working for Duke Power Company (“Duke”). (R. 68). Plaintiff asserted claims for negligence, strict liability, breach of implied warranty, and loss of consortium and sought compensatory and punitive damages. (R. 69–78). Trial was scheduled to begin on January 14, 2019, before The Honorable Jean H. Toal.

On December 28, 2018, Plaintiff moved to strike a tissue digestion study performed by Fisher’s expert pathologist, Dr. Timothy Oury, and to preclude any evidence or testimony related to the tissue digestion study conducted on tissue remaining from the deceased. (R. 2734). Fisher opposed the motion. (R. 2825). On Friday, January 4, 2019, Plaintiff moved for a protective order precluding Dr. Oury’s deposition. (R. 2783). The trial court entered an ex parte order granting the motion on January 7, 2019. (R. 3). The same day, Fisher filed a Rule 59(e) motion and response to Plaintiff’s motion for a protective order, which the trial court immediately denied. (R. 5, 2855). The trial court held a pretrial hearing on January 9, 2019, and granted Plaintiff’s motion to strike the tissue digestion study and exclude any evidence or testimony related to the study. (R. 102, 176–77). The trial court then entered a written order on January 11, 2019. (R. 7).

Six defendants began the trial: Fisher; Crosby Valve, LLC (“Crosby”); The J.R. Clarkson Company (“J.R. Clarkson”); Aurora Pump Company (“Aurora”); Carboline Company (“Carboline”); and John Crane, Inc. (R. 195–96). At the close of Plaintiff’s case-in-chief, Fisher moved for directed verdict, which the trial court denied. (R. 1636–45, 2885). During trial, Fisher submitted proposed jury charges and a proposed verdict form, along with a motion requesting that the trial court adopt Fisher’s proposed verdict form. (R. 2866, 2877, 3201). The trial court rejected

Fisher's proposed verdict form and declined Fisher's proposed jury charges addressing the sophisticated intermediary doctrine and intervening cause. (R. 1759–70, 1797–1804).

Aurora, J.R. Clarkson, and John Crane settled the case or were dismissed during trial, and only Fisher, Crosby, and Carboline tried the case to a verdict. (R. 3234). The jury rendered a verdict in favor of Plaintiff on her negligence and breach of implied warranty claims against Fisher and awarded \$3,000,000 in compensatory damages. (*Id.*). The jury also found Fisher's conduct was willful, wanton, or reckless. (*Id.*). The jury returned a verdict in favor of Fisher as to Plaintiff's strict liability claim and in favor of Crosby and Carboline as to all of Plaintiff's claims. (*Id.*). Plaintiff and Fisher proceeded to a punitive damages phase, and the jury awarded Plaintiff \$2,125,000 in punitive damages. (R. 2495–96, 3234).

On February 4, 2019, Fisher moved for judgment notwithstanding the verdict (“JNOV”) or, in the alternative, a new trial. (R. 2931). Fisher also moved to set off the amounts Plaintiff received in settlements from the damages award against Fisher. (R. 2922). The trial court denied Fisher's motions for JNOV or a new trial. (R. 13). The trial court also denied in part and granted in part Fisher's motion for setoff. (*Id.*). After trial, Plaintiff moved for sanctions against Fisher based on a sworn statement from Dr. Oury that Fisher submitted as an offer of proof at trial to preserve its appellate rights. (R. 2916). The trial court granted Plaintiff's motion for sanctions. (R. 54).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

I. Background

Mr. Glenn worked for Duke from 1970 through 1996, primarily as an instrumentation worker at the Oconee Nuclear Station (“Oconee”). Mr. Glenn worked around other tradesmen tearing out asbestos insulation and gaskets, which released asbestos fibers into the air. *See* (R.

1090–91, 1193–97, 1678–82, 1691, 1700, 1717–19). Mr. Glenn was diagnosed with mesothelioma and died in February 2015. (R. 64).

Fisher, which has its headquarters in Marshalltown, Iowa, manufactures and sells process control valves used in industrial facilities, including nuclear power plants like Oconee. (R. 680, 692–95). During the time period at issue, Fisher built its valves to Duke’s specifications, incorporated the type of internal gaskets and packing specified by Duke, and shipped the valves to Duke. (R. 717–18). Fisher valves were among thousands of different types of equipment and materials, made by numerous different manufacturers, present at the facilities where Mr. Glenn worked. (R. 1090–91, 1199–1201, 1701–07, 1717–19).

II. Pretrial Issues

A. Motion to Exclude Plaintiff’s Expert Testimony

Prior to trial, Fisher moved to exclude the testimony of Plaintiffs’ expert witnesses, Dr. Arthur Frank and Dr. Arnold Brody, on the grounds that the experts intended to present opinions that “each and every exposure” to asbestos causes mesothelioma. *See* (R. 2710). Fisher argued that no published or peer-reviewed literature supports the theory that “each and every exposure” to asbestos causes mesothelioma and the theory conflicts with substantial factor causation requirements. (*Id.*). The trial court denied the motion. (R. 183–85).

B. Dr. Oury’s Tissue Digestion Study

Fisher and several other defendants retained pathologist Dr. Timothy Oury as a medical expert to review pathology slides from Mr. Glenn’s lungs.¹ (R. 3245–46). On November 30, 2018, Fisher’s counsel received a report from Dr. Oury dated November 28, 2018, in which Dr. Oury opined—based on his review of the pathology slides—that Mr. Glenn’s mesothelioma “may be an

¹ Counsel for several other defendants served as liaison and coordinated with Dr. Oury on behalf of all defendants who retained him. (R. 3245–46).

asbestos associated mesothelioma,” but his analysis “suggest[ed] that prior asbestos exposure may not have contributed to his mesothelioma.” (R. 2790, 3245–46). Dr. Oury explained “there is plenty of lung tissue to perform digestion studies to more rigorously determine if asbestos did or did not contribute to his tumor.” (R. 2790). Fisher’s counsel learned for the first time when it received the report that Dr. Oury believed it was necessary to subject Mr. Glenn’s lung tissue to testing” to determine whether Mr. Glenn’s mesothelioma was caused by asbestos. (R. 3245–46).

Fisher’s counsel contacted Emory University, which had custody of the tissue, in an effort to have some of the tissue sent to Dr. Oury for testing. (R. 2835, 3245–46). On December 6, 2018, Fisher’s counsel contacted Plaintiff’s counsel to discuss conducting a tissue digestion study, but Plaintiff’s counsel objected to the study absent a court order. (R. 2738). Fisher then filed a motion requesting that the court allow it to perform the testing. (R. 2708). In response to the motion, Plaintiff’s counsel informed the trial court and the parties that they “do not necessarily oppose doing a digestion process” but opposed the testing “until such time as, at a minimum, a protocol for the digestion and dividing the tissue could be worked out between experts for the plaintiffs and the defense.” (R. 2837). Instead of a court order allowing testing, Plaintiff’s counsel “propose[d] that the Court direct the parties to work together to determine a division of tissue protocol so that neither side is prejudiced by one party making unilateral decisions.” (*Id.*).

Fisher’s counsel immediately began communicating with Plaintiff’s counsel in an effort to reach an agreement about the testing. (R. 2841, 2843). Plaintiff’s counsel indicated their desire to reach an agreement about the protocol Fisher’s experts would use for the division and digestion of tissue. (R. 2841) (“[W]e need to send the protocol to our guy and get him to sign off. Then you can do the division of tissue and send. The idea is that we get the mirror image of what you get. Make sense?”). Fisher’s counsel complied with Plaintiff’s counsel’s request to see the protocol,

and Dr. Oury sent the tissue to the RJ Lee Group with instructions to “only use ½ of the [testable] material . . . so there will still be material if someone else wants to perform a digestion study.” (R. 2843, 2846, 2849). Fisher’s counsel also scheduled Dr. Oury’s trial preservation deposition for January 8, 2019, because Plaintiff had not noticed a discovery deposition. (R. 2846).

On December 11, 2018 at 3:25 p.m., Plaintiff’s counsel clarified that they would not agree to the protocol; rather, they wanted an agreement that the tissue blocks would be split in half and half of each block would be provided to them:

All-

I think we had a misunderstanding about the protocol. We are never going to agree on the protocols for the digestion. The reasons for this are multiple. What I was getting at was how we split the tissue. Can we agree that the tissue will be split evenly. That is if you have one block we get half of that block. If there are two blocks, we get half of each block.

As long as this is agreeable, then have the blocks split and send them to us.

Thanks.

(R. 2851). Fisher’s counsel Yancey McLeod agreed with Mr. Branham’s proposal at 3:41 p.m. on the same day: “Trey, yes, that is the plan. Thanks.” (*Id.*). Fisher’s counsel believed these emails confirmed the parties’ existing agreement to have the tissue divided evenly. (R. 3246). The trial court relied on a subsequent email sent by Plaintiff’s counsel Jonathan Holder two minutes later in which Mr. Holder attempted to add a requirement that a “neutral third party” divide the tissue. (R. 9). However, Fisher proceeded based on its understanding that the parties had agreed only to an even division of the tissue as Mr. Branham and Mr. McLeod confirmed in their December 11 emails.

Drew Van Orden from the RJ Lee Group divided the tissue the same day in accordance with Fisher’s instructions to divide the tissue evenly. (R. 2792, 2853–54, 2794–95). Dr. Oury

performed the digestion study and issued a supplemental report explaining the study revealed “elevated levels of only amosite asbestos fibers” and asbestos bodies, which “indicates that prior exposure to amosite asbestos is the cause of Mr. Glenn’s mesothelioma.” (R. 2792). Amosite is an asbestos fiber-type commonly associated with insulation; it is not associated with Fisher products.² (R. 483, 719).

Plaintiff moved to strike Dr. Oury’s tissue digestion and any evidence or testimony based on the tissue digestion on December 28, 2018, less than a month before trial, arguing the tissue had not been divided according to the parties’ agreement and Plaintiff was prejudiced by having to hire a new expert. (R. 2734). Fisher opposed the motion, asserting the tissue digestion evidence was critical to the issue of causation because it “revealed that [Mr. Glenn’s] lungs were full of amosite asbestos fibers, an asbestos fiber-type not associated with any of [Fisher’s] products.” (R. 2827). On Friday, January 4, 2019, four days before Dr. Oury’s deposition, Plaintiff moved for a protective order precluding Dr. Oury’s deposition. (R. 2783). The trial court entered an ex parte order granting the motion the following business day at 9:02 a.m. (R. 3). The same day, Fisher filed a Rule 59(e) motion in response to Plaintiff’s motion and the trial court’s ex parte order, which the trial court denied only hours later. (R. 5, 2855).

On January 8, 2019, Fisher took a sworn statement from Dr. Oury, in a question-and-answer format with a court reporter present, to use as an offer of proof of his opinions about the tissue digestion if the trial court granted Plaintiff’s motion to strike. (R. 3334). The sworn statement provided the same opinions contained in Dr. Oury’s December 18, 2018 report. (R. 2790, 3334).

² Fisher did not make, sell, supply, or recommend insulation—whether asbestos-containing or not—and its products function with or without insulation. (R. 719). Mr. Glenn’s former coworkers testified that pipe insulation was the primary source of dust at the Oconee plant. *See* (R. 1084–90).

At a pretrial hearing on January 9, 2019, the trial court and the parties debated whether Fisher and Plaintiff reached an agreement to divide Mr. Glenn's tissue for the tissue digestion study. (R. 117–77). The trial court found the parties had not reached an agreement and orally granted Plaintiff's motion to preclude any testimony related to the tissue digestion study, but it expressly stated it was "not assigning any bad faith to anybody in connection with this." (R. 172, 176–77). Fisher's counsel received the transcript of Dr. Oury's sworn statement the day after the hearing. (R. 3000). The trial court entered a written order memorializing its decision to exclude the tissue digestion evidence on January 11, 2019. (R. 7).

III. The Trial

The parties proceeded to trial on January 14, 2019. (R. 195). At the beginning of trial, at Plaintiff's request, the trial court reaffirmed its ruling prohibiting any evidence related to the tissue digestion: "I will not allow any information to be discussed with the jury about digestion tests." (R. 198-202). In compliance with the trial court's ruling, nobody mentioned tissue digestions or presented any evidence related to Dr. Oury's study to the jury. Fisher did not call Dr. Oury to testify because the exclusion of all tissue digestion-related evidence eliminated the significance of Dr. Oury's admissible testimony. (R. 2195, 2790).

Plaintiff focused her exposure evidence primarily on Mr. Glenn's work at Oconee by relying on testimony from five individuals who worked at Oconee. For example, James Freeman testified that he worked as an instrumentation worker and worked around other employees scraping flange gaskets off valves, disturbing insulation, and performing other types of work. (R. 1073–78). Several other former Duke workers testified that they sometimes worked around Fisher valves; however, they also worked around numerous other types of equipment and materials that may have exposed them to asbestos, including insulation, asbestos-containing cement and coatings, valves,

pumps, boilers, and turbines. *See, e.g.*, (R. 1090–91, 1193–97, 1199–1201, 1678–82, 1691, 1700–07, 1717–19).

Dr. Frank and Dr. Brody testified at trial. (R. 356, 1253). Neither expert had examined Mr. Glenn or analyzed the extent of his exposure to asbestos. (R. 434–35, 1357–58). Both testified generally that all exposures to asbestos cause mesothelioma and answered hypotheticals from Plaintiff’s counsel in which they assumed certain amounts of asbestos exposure and opined that, in those hypothetical scenarios based on only some of the coworkers’ testimony, Fisher caused Mr. Glenn’s mesothelioma. *See* (R. 452–53, 490–91, 1336–39). Plaintiff did not present any testimony from an industrial hygienist or other expert who could demonstrate the actual dose of asbestos from any Fisher product to which Mr. Glenn was exposed while working for Duke. Fisher, however, presented specific testimony from an industrial hygienist that Mr. Glenn’s cumulative asbestos exposure from Fisher valves was well below permissible limits. (R. 1435–36). Mr. Glenn’s exposures from his or others’ handling of friable asbestos insulation, in contrast, were “significant” and in excess of relevant standards and guidelines. (R. 1436).

Fisher submitted proposed jury instructions to the trial court. (R. 3201). The trial court held a charge conference during trial and declined to give two of Fisher’s requested instructions addressing the sophisticated intermediary doctrine and intervening cause because it found Fisher did not warn Duke and Duke’s actions in failing to warn its employees and using asbestos-containing insulation were foreseeable. (R. 1759–70, 1797–1804).

Fisher also submitted a motion requesting that the trial court adopt its proposed verdict form. (R. 2867, 2878). The proposed verdict form required the jury to apportion fault among multiple potential tortfeasors, including the defendants remaining at trial, some settled or bankrupt entities which the evidence showed may have been responsible for Mr. Glenn’s asbestos exposure,

Duke, and others. (R. 2878). The trial court rejected Fisher's request to have the jury apportion fault among other potential tortfeasors and declined to use Fisher's proposed verdict form. (R. 1812–13).

Near the end of the trial, prior to the close of the defense's evidence, Fisher requested to make Dr. Oury's sworn statement a court's exhibit as an offer of proof to preserve the exclusion of tissue digestion evidence as an issue for appeal. (R. 2145–47). The trial court made the sworn statement a court's exhibit. (*Id.*). The trial court then stated that Fisher had violated court orders and discovery rules. (R. 2148–49). The trial court suggested it would grant sanctions if requested to do so by Plaintiff. (R. 2214).

IV. The Verdict and Post-Trial Issues

The jury returned a verdict for Plaintiff on her negligence and breach of implied warranty claims against Fisher and awarded \$3,000,000 in compensatory damages. (R. 3234–36). The jury also found Fisher's conduct was willful, wanton, or reckless. (R. 3236). The jury found in favor of Fisher as to Plaintiff's strict liability claim. (R. 3235). After the verdict, but before the trial court discharged the jury, Fisher argued the verdict finding it liable in negligence but not in strict liability was inconsistent because negligence requires proof of the same elements as strict liability, plus an additional element of fault. (R. 2422–23). Rather than instruct the jury to return a consistent verdict, the trial court found the verdict was *not* inconsistent and discharged the jury. (*Id.*).

Because the jury found Fisher's conduct to be willful, wanton, or reckless, the trial proceeded to a punitive damages phase. (R. 2438, 3236). Fisher requested that the trial court instruct the jury that punitive damages cannot be awarded for a breach of warranty claim, but the trial court declined. (R. 2449–51, 2454, 2470–74). The jury awarded Plaintiff \$2,125,000 in punitive damages. (R. 2495–96, 3237).

Fisher moved for JNOV or, in the alternative, a new trial. (R. 2931). The trial court denied the motions in full. (R. 13). Plaintiff settled with numerous defendants before and during trial. After trial, Fisher moved to set off the settlement amounts Plaintiff received pursuant to South Carolina Code section 15-38-50 and the trial court's equitable powers. (R. 2922). Fisher also requested that the trial court order Plaintiff to produce her settlement agreements so Fisher or the trial court may determine the terms and scope of the releases to determine the proper allocation of funds for purposes of the setoff. (R. 2928–29). At the time Fisher filed its setoff motion, Fisher did not know the amount or allocation of Plaintiff's numerous settlements. *See* (R. 3247–48). In response to Fisher's motion, Plaintiff claimed she had received \$2,805,000 in total settlements and unilaterally allocated the funds 90% to the wrongful death claim, 10% to the survival claim, and 0% to the loss of consortium claim. (R. 3103–04).³ At the post-trial motions hearing, Plaintiff's counsel stated that the settlement agreements do not contain any agreed-upon allocation of the settlement funds. (R. 2627). The trial court directed Plaintiff's counsel to provide the total amount of settlements with other defendants, but it did not review any settlement agreement or release and did not seek any proof of the settlement amounts. (R. 2620–21).

After learning of Plaintiff's unilateral allocation, Fisher argued the trial court must reallocate the settlement funds to protect Fisher's right to setoff and prevent a double recovery, and must order Plaintiff to produce her settlement agreements. (R. 3117–21). The trial court rejected Fisher's arguments and applied Plaintiff's unilateral allocation to the jury verdict, thus requiring Fisher to pay \$1,720,000 in compensatory damages. (R. 50–51).

³ Although the trial court, at Plaintiff's request, had previously entered an order approving Plaintiff's allocation in October 2017 (more than a year prior to trial), Fisher was not notified that this order was entered. (R. 3247–48).

V. Plaintiff's Motion for Sanctions

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