RECEIVED
MAY 13 2020
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM ANDERSON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Jean Hoefer Toal, Chief Justice of the Supreme Court of South Carolina (Retired),
Acting as Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2019-001600
Case No. 2015-CP-04-01607

Rita Joyce Glenn, individually and as personal
representative of the Estate of
Tommy Harold Glenn, deceased,..... Respondents,

vs.

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

The circuit court found this to be a reliable basis for his opinions under South Carolina Rule of Evidence 702. (R. p. 33).

Finally, it is worth noting that the expert testimony of Dr. Frank and Dr. Brody has been consistently admitted by other courts as reliable and helpful to the trier of fact. With regard to Dr. Frank, his testimony was accepted in the following published cases: *City of Greenville v. W.R. Grace & Co.*, 827 F.2d 975, 980 (4th Cir. 1987); *Waite v. AII Acquisition Corp.*, 194 F. Supp. 3d 1298, 1312-14 (S.D. Fla. 2016); *In re Asbestos Prod. Liab. Litig. (Breedlove)*, No. 09-CV-75120, 2011 WL 499993, at *2 (E.D. Pa. Feb. 10, 2011), *Rost*, 151 A.3d at 1045-47; *Lovelace v. B & R Auto Serv., Inc.*, 798 S.E.2d 439, 440 (N.C. App.), *review denied*, 804 S.E.2d 538 (N.C. 2017); *Smith v. Illinois Cent. R. Co.*, 37 N.E.3d 445, 452-53 (Ill. App. 2015); *In re Estate of Lilienthal*, No. 4-14-0280, 2015 WL 1234216, at *1 (Ill. App. Mar. 17, 2015); *Tyson v. H.K. Porter Co.*, 216 N.C. App. 184, 716 S.E.2d 441 (2011); *Shepard v. Grand Trunk W. R.R. Inc.*, No. 92711, 2010 WL 1712316, at *8 (Ohio App. Apr. 29, 2010); *In re Asbestos Litig.*, 911 A.2d 1176, 1193-94, 1205-06 (Del. Super. Ct. 2006).

In addition to the *Garvin* case, Dr. Brody's testimony has similarly been admitted in the following cases: *Rabovsky v. Air & Liquid Sys. Corp.*, No. CIV.A. 10-3202, 2012 WL 876752, at *3 (E.D. Pa. Mar. 13, 2012); *In re Asbestos Prod. Liab. Litig. (No. VI)*, No. 10-CV-03202, 2012 WL 252919, at *1 (E.D. Pa. Jan. 25, 2012); *In re Asbestos Products Liab. Litig. (No. VI) (Larson)*, No. 09-69123, 2010 WL 4676563, at *3-4 (E.D. Penn. Nov. 15, 2010); *Rost*, 151 A.3d at 1038, 1045; *Startley v. Welco Mfg. Co.*, 78 N.E.3d 639, 642, 647 (Ill. App. 2017); *Hennegan v. Cooper/T. Smith Stevedoring Co.*, 837 So. 2d 96, 105-06, 110 (La. Ct. App. 2002).

The circuit court did not abuse its discretion in reaching the same conclusion as to the admissibility of these experts' testimony in this case.

C. Dr. Frank based his specific causation opinion on the exposure evidence in this case.

Dr. Frank's specific causation opinion is firmly grounded in the exposure evidence presented at trial. A documented history of occupational exposure to asbestos is sufficient to attribute mesothelioma to asbestos. (R. p. 1284, lines 15-24; R. p. 1303, lines 1-10). Dr. Frank explained that "[t]o link asbestos to a mesothelioma, you have to have exposure, you have to have the right latency . . . and you have to have the proper diagnosis." (R. p. 1303, lines 5-8). Dr. Frank has reviewed Tommy's medical records, (R. p. 1273, lines 5-7), and determined that "[t]here's no question in this case that Mr. Glenn had a mesothelioma." (R. p. 1303, lines 9-10).

In terms of Tommy's exposures, industrial hygiene studies have measured asbestos exposure levels ranging from 2.1 to 31 fibers/cc from the removal of gaskets. (R. p. 1335, lines 7-17). These studies have found that removal of asbestos gaskets can exceed OSHA's excursion limits for maximum, short-term asbestos exposures. (R. p. 1335, lines 18-21).

Tommy's exposures were many orders of magnitude above background levels. The level of asbestos in the ambient air in urban areas is .00001 f/cc, and in rural areas it's .000001 f/cc. (R. p. 1294, line 10-p. 1295, line 14). Tommy's exposures from the removal of asbestos gaskets were hundreds of thousands to millions of times higher than that. (R. p. 1338, line 1-p. 1339, line 8).

In stating his causation opinion, Dr. Frank relied on a summary of the exposure facts proven to the jury:

- Q. As it relates to Fisher, a defendant in this case, I want you to assume that they made valves, that in terms of the frequency of exposure to those valves, there has been testimony that it was regular or routine, specifically during 60-day outages that happened throughout the year.

In terms of proximity, I want you to presume it's close. And in terms of close, the jury heard the picture that we already looked at together, three to four feet apart, from elbow to elbow, to ten feet.

With me?

A. That's close.

Q. Okay. In terms of duration, we're not talking weeks or months but years.

In terms of asbestos content, the jury has heard it goes from 25 percent to 85 percent but that, in Fisher's material specifications, we're looking at the higher end.

And in terms of work practice, that they used scrapers. . . a wire brush and a grinder.

Even if no one had published a study on this, I want to ask you the following question: With the frequency, proximity, and duration I've asked you to assume and the work practices I've identified with an 85 percent asbestos product, is that something, based on your medical expertise, that is a substantial and significant cause of the development of mesothelioma if the work happened in the right latency period?

A. Yes.

(R. p. 1336, line 10-p. 1337, line 14). If this had been Tommy's only asbestos exposure, it would have been sufficient to cause his mesothelioma. (R. p. 1337, lines 18-25).

Such exposures cannot be considered "low dose" exposures:

Q. And if you have an exposure that's repeated tens of thousands of times above background, not just for months but years, does it make sense to call that low dose?

A. No.

(R. p. 1323, lines 11-15).

Dr. Frank testified that even at the lowest levels of asbestos exposure that have been studied, there is still an increased risk of mesothelioma. (R. p. 1288, line 10-p. 1291, line 23; R. p. 1298, lines 16-21). For example:

Q. Are there also epidemiological studies where they're studying population where they rate different levels of exposures, and even at the lowest level, they're finding too much mesothelioma?

- A. Oh, absolutely. My affidavit that I guess is now Exhibit 76, Page 14, I have reviewed some of these studies. And while there is an allowable level still in the United States, which is designed supposedly to protect people for a 40-year work career -- 50 weeks a year, eight hours a day, 40 years supposed to protect you -- if you work at that level for one year, you have a four times increased risk of getting a mesothelioma at the legally allowable level.

(R. p. 1290, line 23-p. 1291, line 10).

Dr. Frank's causation opinions are based on the record of Tommy's repeated exposures to asbestos from Fisher valves during his years at Duke, as well as the scientific literature and other evidence mentioned above. This is a reliable scientific basis for his opinions. Fisher has failed to show otherwise. The circuit court did not abuse its discretion in finding that Dr. Frank's specific causation testimony is supported by the scientific literature as well as the facts of this case, and that his testimony was relevant and helpful to the jury.

III. The circuit court did not abuse its discretion in declining to instruct the jury on the sophisticated intermediary defense, intervening cause, or punitive damages.

An appellate court will not reverse the trial court's decision regarding jury instructions unless the trial court abused its discretion. *Clark v. Cantrell*, 339 S.C. 369, 389, 529 S.E.2d 528, 539 (2000). A trial court must charge the current and correct law. *In re Estate of Pallister*, 363 S.C. 437, 451, 611 S.E.2d 250, 258 (2005). The reviewing court must consider the circuit court's jury charge as a whole in light of the evidence and issues presented at trial. *Hennes v. Shaw*, 397 S.C. 391, 402, 725 S.E.2d 501, 507 (Ct. App. 2012). "A trial court's refusal to give a properly requested charge is reversible error only when the requesting party can demonstrate prejudice from the refusal." *Pittman v. Stevens*, 364 S.C. 337, 340, 613 S.E.2d 378, 380 (2005).

A. **Fisher was not entitled to an instruction on the sophisticated intermediary defense or intervening cause.**

As an initial matter, Fisher asks this Court to follow California law, not South Carolina law, regarding the sophisticated intermediary defense. The South Carolina Supreme Court has observed that the sophisticated intermediary defense has not been adopted in South Carolina. *See Lawing v. Univar, USA, Inc.*, 415 S.C. 209, 226, 781 S.E.2d 548, 557 (2015), *reh'g denied* (Feb. 12, 2016). The Court explained that no South Carolina court has adopted this defense, and that it was not necessary to do so for the Court to reach its decision in *Lawing*:

In arguing that the court of appeals erred in affirming the trial court's decision to charge the jury on the sophisticated user defense, the Lawings contend that the sophisticated user defense is not the law of South Carolina. **We agree that prior to the court of appeals' opinion in this case, neither this Court, nor the court of appeals, had explicitly adopted the defense** However, we need not formally adopt the doctrine at this time because . . . the facts of this case do not implicate the sophisticated user defense.

Id. (emphasis added).

The circuit court did not rule out the availability of the sophisticated intermediary defense in South Carolina, but found that Fisher failed to show that it is applicable under the facts of this case. (R. p. 17). Under *Lawing*, “[a] product manufacturer cannot raise the sophisticated intermediary defense without first showing that it placed a warning label on its products.” (R. p. 16). In *Lawing*, the Court held that “[t]he sophisticated user doctrine is typically applied as a defense to relieve the supplier of liability for failure to warn where it is difficult or even impossible for the supplier to meet its duty to warn the end user of the dangers associated with the use of a product, and the supplier therefore relies on the intermediary or employer to warn the end user.” *Id.* at 226. The Court determined that “[u]nder the specific factual circumstances in this case, the proper focus is the *labeling* on the sodium bromate shipped to [the purchaser], not

the use of sodium bromate in [the] plant.” *Id.* at 227. The purchaser’s “knowledge of the dangers of sodium bromate does not affect the suppliers’ duty to properly label sodium bromate as a hazardous and flammable product, because the knowledge of sodium bromate’s inherent qualities are useless to a person who comes into contact with the chemical but cannot identify it.” *Id.* “The fact that a sophisticated user of a particular product ultimately receives the product does not permit the supplier to decide whether or not to adequately label the dangerous product as such.” *Id.* at 228. Because the product supplier had not placed a visible warning label on the pallets of sodium bromate, it was error to charge the jury with the sophisticated user defense. *Id.*

The situation in this case is similar in that Duke may have known that asbestos was hazardous, but neither Duke nor Tommy knew that friable asbestos was released from Defendant’s asbestos gaskets and packing because those products contained no warning to that effect. Fisher took the position that the asbestos was encapsulated in these products, and has not shown that Duke knew any differently. Duke’s knowledge was thus not useful to Tommy because of the inadequacy of Fisher’s labeling.

Fisher failed to meet the elements of the sophisticated intermediary defense in this case. Even under the California authority it cites, this is an affirmative defense for which Fisher has the burden of proof. *Webb v. Special Elec. Co.*, 370 P.3d 1022, 1034 (Cal. 2016). Under *Webb* its burden is high: “Because the sophisticated intermediary doctrine is an affirmative defense, **the supplier bears the burden of proving that it adequately warned the intermediary, or knew the intermediary was aware or should have been aware of the specific hazard, and reasonably relied on the intermediary to transmit warnings.**” *Id.* (emphasis added).

Fisher has not shown that it warned Duke. Unlike in *Lawing*, where a warning was given, here the evidence establishes that Fisher provided no warnings to Duke whatsoever. (R. p. 576,

lines 8-13). This circuit court noted at the directed verdict stage that “the fundamental [holding] of *Lawing v. Univar* is that sophisticated intermediary doesn’t come into play unless the products are properly labeled to the intermediary, so all this reliance on the sophisticated intermediary and sophisticated user will fall simply on that basis alone.” (R. p. 1641, lines 4-10).

Fisher also failed to show that it knew Duke was aware or should have been aware of the danger from asbestos gaskets. Again, the evidence shows the opposite: Duke distinguished asbestos gaskets as non-hazardous because it was thought they did not release asbestos fibers when disturbed. (R. p. 7181). And Fisher certainly has not shown that it was relying on Duke to inform its employees of those hazards. They introduced no evidence to this effect. This total lack of evidence supporting the sophisticated intermediary defense is why the circuit court declined to charge the jury with this defense. (R. p. 1759, line 14-p. 1768, line 24). Fisher has failed to show that the sophisticated intermediary defense relieved it of its duty to warn. The circuit court did not abuse its discretion in finding that Fisher had failed to meet the requirements of this defense.

Fisher’s intervening cause argument is likewise without merit. Neither Duke’s actions nor Tommy’s actions were an intervening cause. With regard to Duke, Fisher argues that Duke should have protected Tommy and that this failure was an intervening cause.

First, “it is no defense that a similar duty rested upon another person.” *Matthews v. Porter*, 239 S.C. 620, 631, 124 S.E.2d 321, 327 (1962). Even if Duke had breached a duty to warn or protect Tommy, that does not excuse Fisher’s own wrongful conduct. Duke’s conduct does not relieve Fisher of its duty to warn.

More importantly, “[f]or an intervening act to break the causal link and insulate the tortfeasor from further liability, the intervening act must be unforeseeable.” *Dixon v. Besco Eng’g, Inc.*, 320 S.C. 174, 463 S.E.2d 636, 640 (Ct. App. 1995). “If the intervening acts are (1)

set in motion by the original wrongful act and (2) are the normal and foreseeable result of the original act, the final result, as well as every intermediate cause, is considered in law to be the proximate result of the first wrongful cause.” *Wallace v. Owens-Illinois, Inc.*, 300 S.C. 518, 521, 389 S.E.2d 155, 157 (Ct. App. 1989).

Here, the circuit court found that “[t]he jury could have reasonably determined that Duke’s conduct was entirely foreseeable.” (R. p. 35). Duke didn’t warn about gaskets because Fisher misled Duke about the safety of asbestos gaskets, as outlined in the Statement of Facts. Fisher could hardly expect Duke to warn about the dangers of asbestos gaskets when it portrayed the asbestos as “encapsulated” and safe, which it continued to do in front of the jury in this case. It was Fisher’s own original wrongful act that set in motion any blameworthy conduct of Duke.

With regard to Tommy’s own actions, “an intervening act does not break the chain of causation if it is a normal response to the situation created by the original wrongful act.” *Wallace v. Owens-Illinois, Inc.*, 300 S.C. 518, 522, 389 S.E.2d 155, 157 (Ct. App. 1989). Tommy is, of course, not at fault for not protecting himself against a danger he did not know about because of Fisher’s failure to inform him of the hazards of working with its valves. Tommy continued to perform his work as he always had, without protective measures, which is an entirely “normal response” to Fisher’s failure to warn. The circuit court properly found that “[t]he evidence does not support a finding that Tommy’s own conduct was an intervening cause of his disease.” (R. p. 36). Fisher has failed to show an abuse of discretion in this determination.

B. Fisher was not entitled to a jury instruction regarding the unavailability of punitive damages for a breach of warranty claim.

There were no errors in the circuit court’s punitive damages instructions. The circuit court did not abuse its discretion in declining to instruct the jury that punitive damages could not

be based on a finding in Plaintiff's favor on her breach of warranty claim. As the circuit court found, "Fisher presents no authority in support of its contention that the jury should be instructed that punitive damages are not available in a breach of warranty case." (R. p. 45). The case Fisher relies on, *Rhodes v. McDonald*, 345 S.C. 500, 548 S.E.2d 220 (Ct. App. 2001), did not hold that juries should be instructed regarding the causes of action that give rise to a claim for punitive damages.

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